IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 O.P.H. OF LAS VEGAS INC., 3 Electronically Filed 4 No.: 68543 Apr 12 2016 03:04 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman 5 Appellant, DC No.: A-1266 Supreme Court 6 7 VS. 8 9 10 OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, DAVE SANDIN, AND 11 SANDIN & Co., 12 13 14 Respondents. 15 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF** 16 17 18 19 20 MARGARET A. MCLETCHIE 21 Nevada State Bar No. 10931 22 McLetchie Shell, LLC 701 E. Bridger Avenue, Suite 520 Las Vegas, NV 89101 24 (702) 728-5300 25 Attorney for Appellant, O.P.H. of Las Vegas, Inc. 27 28

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

• •

This is an appeal from three final orders: (1) a February 19, 2014 order of the Eighth Judicial District Court denying Appellant O.P.H. of Las Vegas, Inc. ("O.P.H.")'s motion for partial summary judgment (Appellant's Appendix ("AA") Volume ("Vol.") X at AA1597); (2) a June 26, 2015 order granting Respondent Oregon Mutual Insurance Company ("OMI") summary judgment on all claims against it (Vol. IX at AA1476); and (3) a June 26, 2015 order granting Respondents Dave Sandin and Sandin & Co. ("Sandin" or "Sandin Defendants") summary judgment on all claims against them. (Vol. IX at AA1486.) *See* NRAP 3A(b)(1). O.P.H. filed a timely notice of appeal on August 4, 2015. (Vol. X at AA1497.) *See* NRAP 4(a)(1) (providing 30 days to file a notice of appeal after the entry of written judgment or order).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively before the Supreme Court because it originated in the business court. *See* NRAP 17(a)(10).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the district court erred in granting OMI summary judgment where genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether OMI's July 31, 2012 Notice was legally sufficient to provide O.P.H. adequate notice of cancellation.

3. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Sandin Defendants on O.P.H.'s negligence and breach of fiduciary duty claims where the facts in the case demonstrated that, in the course acting as insurance agents for O.P.H., the Sandin defendants had a custom and practice of notifying O.P.H. when its insurance premiums were due, thereby creating a *de facto* fiduciary duty.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1	
2	
3	
4	S
5	Т
6	
7	Г
8	C
9	F
10	1.
11	p
12	I
13	
14	A
15	N
16	Δ
17	1.
18	
19	n
20	D
21	Г
22	tl
23	(
24	\

This is an appeal from three final orders entered by the Honorable Glorial turman, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County. The case arises from a suit filed by O.P.H against OMI and the Sandin Defendants after O.P.H attempted to submit a claim to its insurance provider, DMI, following an August 17, 2012 fire that destroyed the Original Pancake House restaurant in Las Vegas, Nevada. Unbeknownst to O.P.H., its insurance oolicy—which was procured on O.P.H.'s behalf by Dave Sandin of Sandin nsurance—had been canceled by OMI on August 16, 2012 for nonpayment. According to a notice generated by OMI and dated July 31, 2012 (the "July 31 Notice"), OMI canceled O.P.H.'s insurance policy effective as of 12:01 a.m., August 16, 2012. (Vol I at AA0116.) OMI was required by both the Policy terms and Nevada law to provide otice to O.P.H. prior to the effective date of cancellation. According to the olicy, OMI was required to provide notice to O.P.H. at least "10 days before he effective date of cancellation if we cancel for nonpayment of premium." Vol. I at AA0112 (relevant portion of OMI policy terms).) According to Nevada law, OMI was required to send notice to O.P.H. ten days prior to termination for nonpayment of a premium. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.320(2) ("No cancellation under subsection 1 is effective until in the case of [failure to

11

10

12

13 14

16

17

18

19 20

21

23

24

pay a premium when due] at least 10 days ... after the notice is delivered or mailed to the policyholder").

O.P.H. never received the July 31, 2012 notice, nor any other notice or communication that would have alerted O.P.H. of any pending cancellation prior to the fire. (Vol. VIII at AA1192-AA1193 (deposition testimony of Linda) Snyder).) However, regardless of whether the July 31, 2012 notice was sent or received, the notice did not comply with Nevada law. As a result, OMI did not effectively cancel the policy with O.P.H. at 12:01 a.m. on August 16, 2012, and the insurance remained in effect when the fire occurred.

Respondent Dave Sandin of Sandin Insurance (hereinafter "Sandin Defendants") acted as an agent for and sold OMI insurance in Nevada. (Vol. I at AA085 (deposition testimony of Dave Sandin).) Throughout the course of dealing with the Sandin Defendants, O.P.H. relied on Dave Sandin to warn it when insurance premium payments were late, and likewise relied on Mr. Sandin to recommend suitable insurance for its business needs. Despite this custom and practice, the Sandin Defendants did not advise O.P.H. its payment to OMI was late. The Sandin Defendants also failed to inform O.P.H. that OMI intended to cancel its policy. (Vol. VIII at AA1302 (Sandin Defendants' Responses to O.P.H.'s First Set of Requests for Admissions); AA1306 (Sandin Defendants' Answers to O.P.H.'s First Set of Interrogatories).)

27

28

O.P.H. filed suit against OMI and the Sandin Defendants on November 27, 2012. (Vol. I at AA0001-AA0025.) In its complaint, O.P.H. lodged claims against OMI for Breach of Contract (Vol. I at AA0010); Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing/Bad Faith (Vol. I at AA0010-AA0011). O.P.H. also raised claims for Fraud in the Inducement (Vol. I at AA0011), unfair practices in settling claims in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 686A.310 (Vol. I at AA0014-AA0015), and Negligence as to OMI and the Sandin Defendants. (Vol. I at AA0016-AA0017.) O.P.H. also filed claims against the Sandin Defendants for Fraud (AA0013) and Breach of Fiduciary Duty. (Vol. I at AA0014.) On November 27, 2013, O.P.H. filed a motion for partial summary judgment. (Vol. I at AA0089.) In that motion, O.P.H. argued it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because OMI's July 31 Notice did not comply with Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 687B.320 and 687B.360. (See generally id.) On February 19, 2014, the district court entered an order denying O.P.H.'s motion for partial summary judgment. (Vol. X at AA1597.) In its brief order, the district court held that the determination of whether the requirement of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360 was triggered by OMI's purported July 31 Notice was "a question of fact." (Vol. X at AA1600.)

On March 17, 2015, OMI filed a motion for summary judgment as to all

claims against it. (Vol. III AA0337.) The Sandin Defendants also filed a motion for summary judgment on March 17, 2015. (Vol. IV at AA0481.)

Although the district court had previously denied O.P.H.'s motion for summary judgment on its claim against OMI for its failure to conform its July 31 Notice with the requirements of Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 687B.320 and 687B.360 on the grounds that the claim presented a question of fact, the district court on June 26, 2015 entered an order granting OMI's motion for summary judgment as to that claim. (Vol. IX at AA1476.) In its order, the district court found "as a matter of law that the notice provided to [O.P.H.] by OMI satisfie[d] the requirements of the policy and NRS 687B310, NRS 687B320, and NRS 687B360." (Vol. IX at AA1483.)

That same day, the district court entered an order granting the Sandin Defendants' motion for summary judgment. (Vol. IX at AA1486.) The district court found the Sandin Defendants were entitled to summary judgment on O.P.H.'s breach of fiduciary duty claim because in Nevada, insurance agents do not have a fiduciary relationship with their clients, and because the Sandin Defendants had no affirmative duty to remind O.P.H. about its monthly premiums. (Vol. IX at AA1491-AA1492.) The district court also granted summary judgment for the Sandin defendants on O.P.H.'s remaining claims. (Vol. IX at AA1493-AA1496.)

•

O.P.H. timely appealed the district court's orders. (Vol. X at AA1497.)

2

1

3

4

5

10 11

12

13 14

15

16 17

18

19 20

21

23

24

25

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Sandin Defendants' Business Dealings with O.P.H. Established a De Facto Fiduciary Duty.

Prior to the instant litigation, O.P.H. operated an Original Pancake House Restaurant in Las Vegas, Nevada. (Vol. IX at AA1489.) In 2002, Dave Sandin—an insurance broker based in Oregon—became O.P.H.'s insurance broker, and began procuring insurance for O.P.H. (Id.) When O.P.H. began purchasing insurance with Mr. Sandin's assistance, he worked for a series of different insurance brokerages. (Vol. III at AA0353-AA0354; Vol. VIII at AA1264.) On at least three different occasions, Mr. Sandin informed O.P.H. they were late on a premium payment—on or about March 23, 2006 (Vol. VIII at AA1268); on or about May 13, 2008 (id.); and on or about May of 2009. (Id.; see also Vol. VIII at AA1198 (deposition testimony of Linda Snyder); AA1268 (O.P.H.'s Answers to Dave Sandin's First Set of Interrogatories).)

According to Mr. Sandin, it was his practice to inform clients of a precancellation notice "[t]o give them a chance to make payment" and avoid having to find replacement insurance. (Vol. VIII AA1247; AA1248 (deposition of Dave Sandin).) The Sandin Defendants were required to notify all customers of any pending cancellations because "... if [an insurance broker has] a practice of notifying your insured, if you do it for one you have to do

them for all[.]" (Vol. VIII at AA1290 (deposition testimony of O.P.H. expert witness Neal Bordenave).) This is because "... contractually [insurance brokers] pick up more liability. And the liability is the following: I have to do it to all my clients. If I do it for one, I have got to do it for all." (Vol. VIII at

AA1297-AA1298.)

Stephan Freuden

Stephan Freudenberger, the President of O.P.H (Vol. VIII at AA1255), came to rely on Dave Sandin to offer whatever support was necessary with regard to O.P.H.'s insurance needs (Vol. VIII at AA1257), as did Linda Snyder, O.P.H.'s office manager. (Vol. VIII at AA1199-1200.) As Mr. Freudenberger explained, Mr. Sandin "was my buffer. . . . I absolutely a hundred percent relied on my broker to be the buffer, like he had been in the past." (Vol. VIII at AA1257.)

17

16

10

11

12

13

14

B. The Sandin Defendants Assisted O.P.H. with purchasing an Insurance Policy With OMI. In December 2011, the Sandin Defendants recommended O.P.H. purchase

19 20

18

insurance from OMI. (Vol. IX at AA1489.) OMI issued a Business Owner

21

Protector Policy to O.P.H. that covered the Original Pancake House

23

Restaurant. (Vol. IV at AA0596-AA0693.) The policy's term was from

2425

December 26, 2011, through December 26, 2012. (Vol. IV at AA0596.)

26

Unbeknownst to O.P.H., Mr. Sandin was not a licensed non-resident insurance agent in Nevada at the time he assisted O.P.H. with procuring the

policy from OMI. In order to legally sell insurance in Nevada, an individual must possess either a resident or non-resident agent license. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 598.0623, 686A.201, 683A.310. At the time he procured the insurance policy from OMI on behalf of O.P.H, however, Mr. Sandin was not a licensed non-resident agent in Nevada as his Nevada licensure had lapsed. (Vol. VIII at AA1242.)

The policy O.P.H. purchased from OMI provided in pertinent part that:

We [OMI] may cancel this policy by mailing or delivering to the

We [OMI] may cancel this policy by mailing or delivering to the first Named Insured written notice of cancellation at least: [...] b. 10 days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for nonpayment of premium.

(Vol. I at AA0171.) The policy further provided:

N. Notices (1) Notice of cancellation or nonrenewal will be mailed, first class or certified, or delivered to the first Named Insured at the last mailing address known to us and will state: (a) The specific reason for cancellation or nonrenewal, and (b) The effective date of nonrenewal. (2) We will also provide a copy of the notice of cancellation, for both policies in effect less than 70 days and policies in effect 70 days or more, to the agent who wrote the policy.

(Vol. I at AA0114.)

C. O.P.H. Attempts to Submit a Claim to OMI After a Fire Destroys The Original Pancake House and Discovers OMI Had Cancelled Its Policy.

In the early morning hours of August 17, 2012, there was a fire at the Original Pancake House restaurant located at 4833 West Charleston Boulevard, in Las Vegas, Nevada. (Vol. VIII at AA1310-AA1311.) As a result

of the August 17, 2012 fire, the building at 4833 West Charleston Boulevard, in Las Vegas, Nevada and its contents, were a total loss. (Vol. VIII at AA1194.)

On that same day, O.P.H. submitted a claim to its insurance company, Oregon Mutual Insurance Company ("OMI"), who issued a claim number for the loss associated with the fire. (Vol. I at AA0140.) OMI assigned the claim to its insurance adjuster, Jerry Masonheimer. (Vol. I at AA0142.)

On August 20, 2012, Mr. Masonheimer notified O.P.H. that at the time of the fire, O.P.H.'s insurance policy was not in effect. (Vol. I at AA0142.) According to Mr. Masonheimer, O.P.H.'s coverage had expired effective August 16, 2012 at 12:01 a.m. due to nonpayment of the insurance premium. (*Id.*; *see also* AA0145 (August 21, 2012 nonpayment cancellation notice).)

Unbeknownst to O.P.H., on July 31, 2012 OMI issued a notice of cancellation to O.P.H. for nonpayment of its insurance premium. (Vol. I at AA0116 (July 31, 2012 cancellation notice).) The notice stated in pertinent part as follows:

We did not receive the required premium payment on your account by the date it was due. We appreciate your business and hope we can continue to serve your insurance needs. If we receive at least the minimum due on this account by 08/15/12, we will continue your coverage without interruption. If we do not receive the minimum due by 08/15/12, each policy listed below will be cancelled effective the time and date shown opposite that policy number.

 $\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 7 \end{bmatrix}$

(*Id.*) The notice further indicated that the policy would be cancelled effective August 16, 2012 at 12:01 a.m. (*Id.*)

O.P.H never received the July 31 Notice, nor did O.P.H ever receive any notice from OMI or the Sandin Defendants that it had missed a payment until the August 21, 2012. (Vol. I at AA0121 (OMI's answers to O.P.H.'s Second Set of Requests for Admissions); *see also* Vol. VII at AA1306-AA 1307 (Defendant Dave Sandin's responses to O.P.H.'s First Set of Interrogatories).) Moreover, O.P.H. never received an invoice for August 2012. (Vol. I at AA0121.)

 D. The July 31, 2012 Cancellation Notice Did Not Comport With the Requirements of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360
 According to Nevada law, OMI was required to send notice to O.P.H ten

days prior to termination for nonpayment of a premium. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.320(2) ("No cancellation under subsection 1 is effective until in the case of [failure to pay a premium when due] at least 10 days ... after the notice is delivered or mailed to the policyholder.") In addition to sending notice within a certain time frame prior to cancellation, certain terms concerning precancellation notice are required by Nevada law. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360 provides:

If a notice of cancellation or nonrenewal under NRS 687B.310 to 687B.420, inclusive, does not state with reasonable precision the facts on which the insurer's decision is based, the insurer shall

 $5 \mid \Gamma$

__

_ _

supply that information within 6 days after receipt of a written request by the policy holder. No notice is effective unless it contains adequate information about the policyholder's right to make such a request.

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360 (emphasis added).

The July 31, 2012 notice OMI sent to O.P.H. did not contain any information about O.P.H.'s right to make a written request for information to OMI. (*Compare* Vol. I at AA0116 (July 31, 2012 notice) *and* AA0157 (notice of cancellation from Amco Insurance Company which states "You have a right to make a written request to us for more explicit detail on the reason your policy has been terminated.").)

E. The Proceedings in the District Court

On November 27, 2013, O.P.H. filed a motion for partial summary judgment. (Vol. I at AA0089.) In that motion, O.P.H. argued it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because OMI's July 31 Notice did not comply with Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 687B.320 and 687B.360. (*See generally id.*) The district court conducted a hearing on O.P.H.'s motion for partial summary judgment on January 22, 2014. (Vol. II at AA0316.)

On February 19, 2014, the district court entered an order denying O.P.H.'s motion for partial summary judgment. (Vol. X at AA1597.) In its brief order, the district court held that the determination of whether the requirement of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360 was triggered by OMI's purported

July 31 Notice was "a question of fact." (Vol. X at AA1600.)

On March 17, 2015, OMI filed a motion for summary judgment as to all claims against it, including O.P.H.'s claim regarding OMI's defective Notice of cancellation. (Vol. III at AA0337.) The Sandin Defendants also filed a motion for summary judgment on March 17, 2015. (Vol. IV at AA0481.) The district court conducted a hearing on OMI's and the Sandin Defendants' motions on May 14, 2015. (Vol. IX at AA1426.)

Although the district court had previously denied O.P.H.'s motion for summary judgment on its claim against OMI for its failure to conform its July 31 Notice with the requirements of Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 687B.320 and 687B.360 on the grounds that the claim presented a question of fact, the district court on June 26, 2015 entered an order granting OMI's motion for summary judgment as to that claim. (Vol. IX at AA1476.) In its order, the district court found "as a matter of law that the notice provided to [O.P.H.] by OMI satisfie[d] the requirements of the policy and NRS 687B310, NRS 687B320, and NRS 687B360." (Vol. IX at AA1483.) The court also granted summary judgment in favor of OMI on all of O.P.H.'s other claims. (Vol. IX at AA1484-AA1485.)

Also on June 26, 2015, the district court entered an order granting the Sandin Defendants' motion for summary judgment. (Vol. IX at AA1486.)

Significantly, the district court found the Sandin Defendants were entitled to summary judgment on O.P.H.'s breach of fiduciary duty claim because in Nevada, insurance agents do not have a fiduciary relationship with their clients, and because the Sandin Defendants had no affirmative duty to remind O.P.H. about its monthly premiums. (Vol. IX at AA1491-AA1492.) The district court also granted summary judgment for the Sandin defendants on O.P.H.'s remaining claims. (Vol. IX at AA1493-AA1496.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the district court erred in granting summary judgment to OMI on O.P.H.'s claim that OMI's July 31 Notice of cancellation did not comply with Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 687B.320 and 687B.360 where—just months earlier—it had denied O.P.H.'s motion for partial summary judgment on that claim. In its order denying O.P.H.'s motion for partial summary judgment, the district court held that whether the July 31 Notice of cancellation complied with Nevada law was "a question of fact."

Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360, a notice of cancellation is not effective "unless it contains adequate information about the policyholder's right" to request information regarding the facts which support the insurer's decision to cancel a policy. The July 30 Notice from OMI, however, did not inform O.P.H. of this right. As a result, contrary to the district court's

decision, the July 31 Notice did not effectively cancel O.P.H.'s policy.

The California Court of Appeal, First District, considered the same issue in *Ilene Lee v. Industrial Indemnity Company, Inc., et al.*, 177 Cal. App. 3d 921 (1986). At the time the California Court of Appeal considered Ilene Lee, California Insurance Code 667, which governed notices of cancellation was substantially similar to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 687B.360. *See, e.g., Ilene Lee*, 177 Cal. App. 3d at 923, n.1.

In *Ilene Lee*, the plaintiff was mailed a bill for \$73.00, generated as a result of an increase in coverage. Id. at 255. Without realizing the mailing was a bill, Ms. Lee put the bill away without reading it or paying the amount due. Id. After that time, no additional bills were sent to Ms. Lee. *Id.* In December 1981, the insurer mailed a notice of cancellation to Ms. Lee. *Id.*

Similar to this case, the cancellation notice mailed by the insurer to Ms. Lee indicated the insurance coverage would cease in the future. *Id.* at 923. The court found the "notice did not contain the statement required by Insurance Code section 677 that [the Plaintiff] could, upon written request, obtain a statement of facts upon which cancellation was based." *Id.* The Court of Appeals found the lower court's denial of summary judgment was error, because the insurer's failure to include the mandatory language required by Insurance Code section 677 "rendered the purported cancellation of [the

policy]...null and void." Id. at 926.

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