IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	FILE STATE OF May 27 2016 11:01 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
O.P.H. OF LAS VEGAS, INC.,	Supreme Court No. Supreme Court
)
Appellant,)
)
V.)
OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE))
COMPANY; DAVE SANDIN; AND)
SANDIN & CO.,)
Respondents.))
)

RESPONDENTS DAVE SANDIN AND SANDIN & CO.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC.

Michael K. Wall (2098)
Peccole Professional Park
10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Respondents
Dave Sandin and Sandin & Co.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(1), and must be disclosed:

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Sandin defendants performed every duty required of them by law as the insurance agent of appellant. They undertook no additional duty based on past conduct to monitor appellant's premium payments or to warn appellant that its policy was about to be cancelled for failure of payment.

DISCUSSION

I. Standard of Appellate Review.

Summary judgment allows courts to avoid unnecessary trials where no

material factual disputes exist. See Northwest Motorcycle Ass'n v. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, 18 F.3d 1468, 1471 (9th Cir. 1994). Summary judgment under NRCP 56 is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, that are properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005).

A genuine issue of material fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation and requires a trial to resolve differing versions of the truth. *See S.E.C.* v. *Seaboard Corp.*, 677 F.2d 1297, 1300-01 (9th Cir. 1982). There is no material issue of fact if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could not return a verdict for the non-moving party. *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 713, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002); *see also Wood v. Safeway*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031 (abrogating the "slightest doubt" standard).

The district court must view all evidence, facts, and inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Sahara Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226*, 115 Nev. 212, 214, 984 P.2d 164, 165 (1999). Although the moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a disputed material fact, the non-moving party must respond by demonstrating the existence

of a disputed material fact. *Id.; Premiere Digital Access, Inc. v. Central Telephone Co.*, 360 F. Supp.2d 1161, 1164 (D. Nev. 2005) (requiring a non-moving party to demonstrate "significant probative evidence" to defeat a motion for summary judgment). "[I]n order to defeat summary judgment, the nonmoving party must transcend the pleadings, and, by affidavit or other admissible evidence, introduce specific facts that show a genuine issue of material fact." *Cuzze v. University & Community College System of Nevada*, 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007). If the non-moving party fails to satisfy this burden, the district court must enter summary judgment and avoid a needless trial. *See Sahara Gaming Corp.*, 115 Nev. at 214, 984 P.2d at 165.

On appeal, this Court applies the same standards, and reviews the district court's determination *de novo*. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005).

In this case, appellant manufactured five causes of action against the Sandin defendants, all of which arose due to appellant's own failure to pay its premium. Despite appellant's attempts to pass the blame to the Sandin defendants, only appellant was responsible for payment of its policy premium. As a result of appellant's failure to pay its premium to Oregon Mutual, Oregon Mutual cancelled the Policy and denied appellant's claim of loss occurring after the cancellation.

All of appellant's claims against the Sandin defendants are based on the claim that the Sandin defendants owed a fiduciary duty to babysit appellant regarding its premium payments. Because the Sanding defendants owed appellant no such duty, all of the claims fail as a matter of law. Therefore, the district court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of the Sandin defendants.

- II. The District Court Did Not Err in Determining that the Sandin Defendant's Owed No Duty to Warn Appellant of the Impending Cancellation of the Policy Based on Appellant's Failure to Pay the Premium.
 - A. The Sandin Defendants Owed No De Facto Duty to Appellant.

The sole issue raised against the Sandin defendants in appellant's opening brief is whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment against appellant because the Sandin defendants allegedly breached some implied duty based on their past custom and practice of notifying appellant when its insurance premiums were due. Although an insurance agent's duties to the insured are general based on direct case law from this jurisdiction, *see* discussion of duty, *infra.*, appellant seeks the imposition of yet another duty based on alleged past conduct, which appellant alternatively argues in terms of a contractual duty and a tort duty. But Appellant would not be content with the imposition of merely a new general duty, contractual or tort based. No. Appellant wants to aggrandize its

argument by declaring without law, reason, policy or logic on its side that the duty this Court should create must be fiduciary in nature. On appeal, for the first time, appellant ups the ante again by labeling this alleged duty a "de facto fiduciary duty." Repetition of the phrase "de facto fiduciary duty" permeates the opening brief, as if mere repetition could impart legitimacy. The argument is nonsense.

Duties are imposed by law. There is nothing *de facto* about a party's legal duties. The existence of a duty is a question of law, reviewed by this Court on appeal *de novo*. *See Estate of Smith ex rel. Smith v. Mahoney's Silver Nugget, Inc.*, 127 Nev. ____, 265 P.3d 688 (Adv. Op. 76, 2011) (question of existence of legal duty determined as a matter of law); *Turner v. Mandalay Sports Entm't, LLC*, 124 Nev. 213, 180 P.3d 1172 (2008) (both majority opinion and dissent concluding that the determination of the existence and scope of a duty is a question of law); *Scialabba v. Brandise Constr. Co.*, 112 Nev. 965, 968, 921 P.2d 928, 930 (1996)) (whether a duty exists is a question of law for the court). Although the facts may be relevant to the determination of whether a legal duty created by law is applicable to a particular case and has been breached, the cute but nonsensical phrase "*de facto* fiduciary duty" is an oxymoron. 6

⁶In this characterization, the alleged fiduciary duty becomes the proverbial emperor without clothes. To give its argument that Dave Sandin voluntarily created a new duty for himself (and for Sandin & Co) by reminding appellant in

B. The Sandin Defendants Did Not Owe a Fiduciary Duty to Appellant to Warn of the Insurer's Intent to Cancel the Policy.

In Nevada, insurance agents do not have a fiduciary relationship with their clients. An "insurance agent is obliged to use reasonable diligence to place the insurance and seasonably to notify the client if he is unable to do so." *Keddie v. Beneficial Insurance, Inc.*, 94 Nev. 418, 420, 580 P.2d 955, 956 (1978). This Court has long recognized these as the only duties owed by a procuring agent to an insured, and the duty imposed is to "exercise [] ordinary care for the rights and interests of the [insured]." *Havas v. Carter*, 89 Nev. 497, 499, 515 P.2d 397, 399 (1973). The Ninth Circuit has noted that "no Nevada court has imposed on insurance brokers a fiduciary duty toward insureds." *CBC Financial, Inc. v. Apex Insurance Managers, LLC*, 291 Fed.Appx. 30, *4 (9th Cir. Aug. 14, 2008) (unpublished).

the past that a payment had been missed, appellant has attempted to dress this theory up in the clothes of legalese, by labeling it *de facto*, forgetting Spock's immortal words, "a label is not an argument, Doctor." But duty is a question of law, so attempting to establish duty as a matter of fact truly leaves Emperor Fiduciary Duty without clothes.

⁷See also Havas v. Carter, 89 Nev 497, 499-500, 515 P.2d 397, 399 (1973) ("the general rule [is] that an insurance agent or broker who undertakes to procure insurance for another owes an obligation to his client to use reasonable diligence in attempting to place the insurance and to seasonably notify the client if he, the agent or broker, is unable to obtain the insurance").

The Sandin defendants satisfied their only duty as appellant's insurance broker by procuring a policy for appellant that included (among other things) fire loss coverage. Appellant's expert testified that the Sandin defendant had satisfied their duty in placing the Policy with Oregon Mutual:

- Q. Do you agree that the Sandin defendants procured the proper type of insurance that was requested by the insured?
- A. Yes.
- Q. By placing that policy with OMI?
- A. Yes.

V AA 822, ln. 17-22.

It has never been disputed that the Oregon Mutual Policy would have covered appellant's loss if appellant had paid its July premium in a timely manner. In fact, appellant's claim was denied solely because of non-payment; it was not denied based on lack of fire coverage or for any other reason. Had appellant paid its July 26, 2012 premium by August 15, 2012, the Policy would have been in full force and effect on August 16, 2012 and August 17, 2012. V AA 803 (Oregon Mutual admission 8). Had the Policy not been cancelled, Oregon Mutual would have continued to adjust the claim for the fire and Oregon Mutual would have paid losses covered under the Policy subject to the terms, conditions, exclusions and

limitations of the Policy. V AA 803 (Oregon Mutual admissions 9 & 10).

Because the Sandin defendants recommended an insurer and secured a policy for appellant that met all of its coverage needs, the Sandin defendants satisfied their only legal duty to appellant as appellant's broker.

The case of *GlobalNet Financial.Com, Inc. v. Frank Crystal & Co.*, 449

F.3d 377 (2d Cir. 2006) is instructive. In *GlobalNet*, an insured filed claims against the insurance broker for professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract based on the broker's alleged failure to notify the insured of the notice of intent to cancel and the cancellation notice for nonpayment of premium. The district court granted the broker's motion for summary judgment on all the claims. On appeal, the Second Circuit affirmed the order of the district court. In stating that the district court properly granted summary judgment to the broker, the appellate court reasoned:

GlobalNet is unable to prevail on its claims because Crystal was not the cause of the cancellation of coverage. The Financing Agreement between AICCO and GlobalNet, which Crystal was not a party to, set forth AICCO's right to cancel GlobalNet's coverage for non-payment of premiums in explicit terms. Thus, GlobalNet was fully aware of the monthly payment schedule, its obligations to make the monthly premium payments, and the consequences of its failure to pay the premiums each month in accordance with the Financing Agreement. The Notice of Intent to Cancel and the Cancellation Notice were both sent to GlobalNet at the address that GlobalNet had requested its mail to be sent to, to wit, the Mizner address. That the mail was not

forwarded to GlobalNet at its London office was not Crystal's failure. Indeed, the District Court found that GlobalNet's own concession bolsters the proposition that it was negligent in missing the premium payment: "Global[N]et acknowledges that because of the confusion surrounding the completion of the tender offer, Global[N]et 'inadvertently . . . missed premium payment' on its D & O coverage." It was GlobalNet's negligence that caused the cancellation of the insurance coverage.

GlobalNet, 449 F.3d at 388. The same is true here. The cause of appellant's loss is appellant's own negligence. The Sandin defendants had no duty, fiduciary or otherwise, to protect appellant from its own negligence.

C. The Sandin Defendants Did Not Owe Appellant a Fiduciary Duty to Remind Appellant to Pay its Premium.

There is no contractual agreement between appellant and the Sandin defendants that requires the Sandin defendants to provide notice to appellant of a pending policy cancellation. IX AA 1490 ¶18. The Sandin defendants had no affirmative duty to ensure that appellant paid its monthly premium in accordance with its contractual obligations to Oregon Mutual. It is not the duty of the broker to ensure that the insurer (Oregon Mutual) and the insured (appellant) are complying with the terms of their contract, to which the broker is not a party.

NRS 687B.320 requires the insurer to provide notice to the insured of the pending cancellation. N.A.C. 687B.530 provides that "[e]ach insurer shall also provide a copy of the notice of cancellation of a policy to the agent who wrote the

policy." Thus, Nevada law imposes a burden of notification on Oregon Mutual, but there is no corresponding requirement that the Sandin defendants provide additional notice to appellant of a pending notice of cancellation. Appellant asserts that such obligation is implied by the requirement that the agent be notified by the insurer, but had the Legislature wanted to impose such an obligation, these statutes demonstrate that it knew how to do so. It did not.

As much as it might be a good thing for an agent who is aware that his client is facing possible cancellation to give the client a heads up, the law does not impose that as a duty on an agent, for a number of policy and logistical reasons, not the least important of which is that after the policy is issued, the insured's relationship is with the insurer, not with the agent, and agency relationships are not necessarily maintained after a policy is issued. Further, following proper notice, the insurer has a right to cancel a policy; that right should not be clouded by arguments that an agent failed to give the insured additional notice of the pending cancellation.

Appellant claims that it would have paid the July premium had the Sandin defendants informed it of the pending cancellation. Appellant does not explain, however, how the Sandin defendants could have notified appellant of the pending cancellation when the Sandin defendants had no knowledge of the pending

cancellation. On the other hand, appellant was aware as of August 13, 2012 (three days prior to cancellation) that it had not yet paid its July premium. Appellant cut a check on August 13, 2012, for the premium, but made a conscious decision not to send it. V AA 715 (Deposition of Snyder). These facts were never disputed by appellant. Appellant, not the Sandin defendants, had knowledge of the late premium. Despite this knowledge, appellant took no action to determine the status of the Policy and the late premium (such as simply calling or emailing the Sandin defendants or Oregon Mutual). Therefore, appellant bears the legal responsibility for failing to pay its monthly premium, not the Sandin defendants.

D. Nothing in the Relationship Between Dave Sandin and Appellant Created a Separate Duty Not Otherwise Recognized in Nevada Law.

Although some jurisdictions have recognized that insurance brokers may, based on conduct on which an insured comes to rely, assume additional duties in special circumstances, *see*, *e.g.*, Gary Knapp, Annotation, *Liability of Insurer or Agent of Insurer for Failure to Advise Insured as to Coverage Needs*, 88

A.L.R.4th 249, 256–263 (1991); Barbara A. O'Donnell, *An Overview of Insurance Agent/Broker Liability*, 25 The Brief, Summer 1996, at 35–36; 44, For example, a broker's representations, see Wallman v. Suddock, 200 Cal.App.4th 1288, 134

Cal.Rptr.3d 566, 582 (Ct.App.2011), Nevada has never recognized such a duty.

Appellant, apparently believing this Court will recognize such a duty, argues that the Sandin defendants through their past conduct voluntarily accepted and now have a duty to warn of impending cancellation for lack of payment, and that this duty is not general, it is fiduciary. Appellant has not addressed the policy implications of adopting such a duty by court declaration, instead simply assuming that such a duty already exists in Nevada. Appellant's arguments do not make clear whether appellant believes this duty this Court should adopt should be based in contract or tort principles. In short, appellant has not thought its proposed remedy out very clearly. Instead, it simply hopes it has found a life-line to save it from its precipitous fall occasioned by its own negligence.

Assuming this Court were inclined to expand the duty of an insurance agent based on past conduct, nothing in the history of the relationship between appellant and Dave Sandin would justify imposing such a duty on the Sandin defendants.

Below, appellants identified only three occasions on which Dave Sandin allegedly had previously notified appellant that it was late in paying a premium. V AA 712; 723-24; 726; 728 (Deposition of Snyder). Specifically, appellant alleged that "[o]n at least three occasions Dave Sandin informed [appellant] they were late on a premium: on or about March 23, 2006, on or about May 13, 2008, and on or about

May 2009." VIII AA 1165, ¶ 6.8

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